IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SARASOTA CLASSIFIED/TEACHERS ASSOCIATION AND THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION

Petitioner,

Case No. 92-001101

vs.

SARASOTA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

- /

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A. Alan C. Sundberg Post Office Drawer 190 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-1585

and

Thomas W. Young, III General Counsel Florida Education Association/United 118 Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1700

Attorney for Sarasota Classified /Teachers Association

Statement of the Case and Facts

The School Board is a public employer under section 447.203(2), Florida Statutes (1989) and it is also a legislative body as defined by Section 447.203(10) [Op. 2, 8]. CTA is the certified bargaining agent for School Board employees. <u>Id</u>.

In 1988, the School Board and CTA negotiated two collective bargaining agreements for School Board employees. [Op. 2]. The agreements, which ran from July 1, 1988, through June 30, 1991, contained, as had past agreements, provisions for annual step pay increases. [Op. 2-3]. Although the agreements had expired and new ones had not been negotiated, those employees eligible for step increases on July 1, 1991 received the increases. [Op. 3].

In July 1991, the superintendent of the School Board, acting on behalf of the Board as the employer, submitted a proposed budget to the School Board acting as a legislative body; that budget included sufficient funds to allow the payment of the step increases for the 1991-1992 school year. [Op. 3, 8]. The School Board rejected this budget and instead approved a budget which appropriated less than was required to fund the step increases which had become part of the status quo as a result of established past practices. [Op. 3, 11].

On August 7, 1991, the CTA filed an unfair labor practice charge with PERC, complaining that the School Board had violated section 447.501(1)(a) and (c) by unilaterally discontinuing the payment of step increases during the collective bargaining negotiations. [Op. 3-4]. CTA asserted that the payment of

SS#3959.1

salary step increases during such negotiations had become an established past practice in Sarasota County. [Op. 4].

PERC found that the School Board had unilaterally changed an established past practice during negotiations by withholding the step increases to bargaining unit members and that this constituted an unfair labor practice under section 447.501(a) and (C). [App.2]. It further found (i) no waiver, (ii) no exigent circumstances, and (iii) no lawful legislative imposition by the School Board after a lawful impasse in the negotiation process, which are the three conditions under which public employers are authorized to take such unilateral action. See Fla. Stat. \$447.403 and <u>Florida School for the Deaf and Blind v. Florida</u> School for the Deaf and the Blind Teachers United, 483 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). PERC specifically rejected the School Board's contention that section 447.309(2) granted it absolute authority to take this unilateral action. [Op. 4, 6-7].

The Second District reversed. [App. 1]. Although acknowledging that Florida law prohibits "unilateral changes in working conditions" during negotiations [Op. 10], it concluded that "the school board in its capacity as the legislative body has the <u>absolute</u> right and obligation under the constitution to fund or not fund any agreement entered into between the employees and the school board as their employer."^{1/} [Op. 13]. Citing

^{1/} The Second District expressly recognized that annual step increases had become the established status quo and could not be unilaterally changed by the employer during negotiations. [Op. 10-11]. By its opinion, the Court did not differentiate (continued...)

this Court's decision in <u>State of Florida v. Florida Police</u> <u>Benevolent Ass'n</u>, 18 F.L.W. 51 (Fla. 1991) ("<u>FPBA</u>"), the Second District held that the separation of powers principles set forth there required reversal of PERC's decision here because "the executive branch of government [could not] bargain away a legislative body's constitutional right and obligation to appropriate funds." [Op. 13-15].

Summary of Argument

The Second District's decision allows school boards to do in their legislative capacity that which the Court conceded the school boards could not do in their capacity as a public employer: unilaterally refuse to pay salary benefits to which its employees are legally entitled, without demonstrating that exigent circumstances (or the other circumstances set forth on page 2, <u>supra</u>) require that action. That holding patently applies to <u>all</u> school boards and thus affects this entire class of constitutional officers. This Court therefore has jurisdiction.

Furthermore, the decision below misapplied the principles set forth in <u>FPBA</u>. As this Court has just made clear in its most recent decision on the question, <u>FPBA</u> applies <u>only</u> where

 $\frac{1}{(\dots \text{continued})}$

between underfunding an existing agreement and discontinuing the funding of wages which had become a part of the status quo as a result of long-standing practice. Instead, the Court concluded that section 447.309(2) grants the School Board the "absolute" right to refuse to fund any "requirement that arises out of <u>collective bargaining</u>." [Op. 14]. For purposes of this jurisdictional brief, then, it matters not whether there is an agreement or an obligation arising out of the status quo.

Florida's separation of powers doctrine is violated. That doctrine does <u>not</u> apply where, as here, there is <u>no action</u> by <u>state</u> executive and legislative bodies with <u>separate</u> identities. The Second District's misapplication of the separation of powers principles set forth in <u>FPBA</u> -- as controlling a situation materially different from <u>FPBA</u> -- by itself creates "<u>McBurnette</u> conflict with this Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u>. <u>McBurnette v.</u> <u>Playground Equipment Corp.</u>, 137 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1962).

Because of the great importance of the decision the District Court has rendered in mistaken reliance on <u>FBPA</u>, which is expressly confined to circumstances that are not present here, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction. By allowing the School Board to evade its obligation to pay the established step increases by merely putting on its legislative hat and refusing to fund those benefits, the Second District has effectively destroyed the employees' constitutional right to bargain. Employees cannot effectively bargain with an employer which has an "absolute" right to refuse to perform the agreements it has negotiated in the first instance, merely by changing hats.

Argument

 The decision below "expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers" by granting school boards the absolute right to unilaterally change wages <u>during collective bargaining negotiations</u>.

School boards are constitutional officers under Article IX, § 4(a) of the Florida Constitution. The Second District's decision expressly holds that these officers have an "absolute" right to unilaterally alter the status quo of wages of public -4employees during collective bargaining negotiations, and this decision applies across-the-board to <u>all</u> school boards since all of them serve as both the executive and the legislative branch for purposes of collective bargaining with their employees. <u>See Fla. Stat</u>. Sections 447.203(2),(10), 447.309(1), 447.403. As such, this Court has jurisdiction under Article V, § 3(b)(3) because the Second District's decision "expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers." <u>See Spradley v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1974).

2. The decision below misapplies this Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u> as controlling in a situation materially different from that in <u>FPBA</u> and thereby creates "<u>McBurnette</u>" <u>conflict with that decision</u>.

<u>McBurnett</u> holds that a district court's decision "creates a conflict by expressly accepting an earlier decision of this Court as controlling in a situation materially at variance with the case relied on." <u>McBurnett</u>, 137 So.2d at 565. That is precisely what occurred here. The Second District expressly accepted this Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u> as controlling in this case, where both executive and legislative powers are lodged in one local government body. However, <u>FPBA</u> dealt with <u>state</u> legislative and executive bodies which are entirely <u>separate</u> and <u>independent</u> and are governed by the prohibition in Article II, § 3 against any member of <u>one branch</u> of "<u>state</u> government" exercising powers of the <u>other branches</u>.

This Court's recent decision in <u>Chiles v. United Faculty of</u> <u>Florida</u>, Case No. 81,252 (March 11, 1993) squarely holds that its decision in <u>FPBA</u> applies <u>only</u> in those cases where the separation -5of powers doctrine would be violated by the executive branch's interference with the legislative branch's constitutional duty to make appropriations. The Second District's decision misapplies the <u>FPBA</u> decision to a local governmental body where separation of powers is <u>not</u> implicated.^{2/} Thus, as the District Court's decision reflects on its face, separate governmental bodies are not involved here because, when a school board such as this engages in collective bargaining, the "employer" and the "legislative body" are <u>one and the same entity.^{3/}</u>

Consequently, there is no separation of powers question presented here because the executive branch of state government did <u>not</u> "bargain away" <u>another</u>, separate branch's "constitutional right and obligation to appropriate funds" for an agreement negotiated by the executive branch. Unlike <u>FPBA</u>, where the Governor, as the public employer of state employees, sought to bind the Legislature, which is the "guardian" of state monies, here the employer <u>is</u> the guardian of the public monies to be used to fund the agreements the employer has previously negotiated. Since <u>the entity that appropriates the funds is exactly the same</u> <u>entity that negotiated the wages in the first instance</u>, <u>no</u> independent branch of the government is required to take any

^{2/} The Fourth District reached the same erroneous conclusion in <u>School Board of Martin County v. Martin County</u> <u>Education Association</u>, Case No. 92-00703 (January 20, 1993).

^{3/} The court stated that "CTA and <u>the school board, as a</u> <u>public employer</u>, negotiated the agreements which contained the step increases that are the subject matter of this action," and <u>the School Board acted "as a legislative body</u>" to appropriate the funds to implement those agreements. [Op. 8-9].

action to implement it. Instead, when the School Board, in its capacity as a "public employer," submitted its proposed budget (through its superintendent) for funding of the agreements it had negotiated, it merely shifted the hats it wears.

In short, given the absence of separate executive and legislative branches in this case, the District Court misapplied the Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u> by holding that the principles set forth there establish that the School Board had an "absolute" right to refuse to fund the step increases. The separation of powers doctrine was the stated basis for the <u>FPBA</u> decision. This Court's March 11, 1993 decision in <u>United Faculty of Florida</u> unequivocally confirms that this is the doctrine upon which the <u>FPBA</u> decision is based, and it goes on to hold explicitly that <u>FPBA</u> does <u>not</u> control in circumstances where, as here, that principle is <u>not</u> implicated.

By its plain terms, the separation of powers provision only applies to the branches of <u>state</u> government. <u>Art. II, Sec. 3,</u> <u>Fla. Const.</u> Indeed, this Court has unequivocally held that Florida's "<u>separation of powers provision was not intended to</u> <u>apply to local governmental entities and officials, such as those</u> <u>identified in articles VIII and IX (ie, school boards)</u> and controlled in part by legislative acts."^{4/} <u>Locke v. Hawkes, 595</u> So.2d 32, 36 (Fla. 1992).

^{4/} The School Board relied below on <u>Holmes County Teachers'</u> <u>Association v. Holmes County School Board</u>, 9 FPER ¶14,207 (1983) and <u>Florida Public Employees Council 79, AFSCME v. Martin County</u>, 18 FPER ¶23,167 (1992), which suggested that the separation of powers provision may apply to local governmental entities. The decisions of that administrative body are clearly contrary to this Court's decision in <u>Locke</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Manifestly, then, this Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u> -- which is expressly founded on the separation of powers doctrine -- does <u>not</u> authorize a local government entity to negotiate agreements under the collective bargaining process while wearing its "public employer" hat but then turn around and refuse to perform those agreements under the guise of its "legislative" hat. The District Court's improper application of the separation of powers principles set forth in <u>FPBA</u> creates "<u>McBurnett</u>" conflict jurisdiction.

3. <u>The court should exercise jurisdiction in this case</u>.

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction because of its great importance to employees of a public employer which also acts in a legislative capacity to appropriate funds for the very agreements it has itself negotiated through the collective bargaining process. The bargaining table is the legislatively mandated forum to determine wages and other terms of employment. <u>School Board of Orange County v. Palowitch</u>, 367 So.2d 730, 731 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). Florida law is settled that the School Board was obligated to maintain the status quo -- which included these step increases -- during collective bargaining negotiations, and this obligation cannot be evaded by merely refusing to fund the step increases. Thus, while circumstances can exist which would allow the School Board to unilaterally make essential changes in the status quo during the bargaining process, those changes <u>must</u> be made in the manner allowed by Florida law (see page 2, <u>supra</u>),

-8-

<u>not</u> by the mere announcement that the School Board will no longer honor the status quo.

Simply put, the bargaining process can be <u>regulated</u> -- as it currently is -- to allow the necessary flexibility for governmental bodies to meet exigent circumstances, but the right of public employees to bargain cannot be abridged, <u>City of</u> <u>Tallahassee v. Pub. Emp. Rel. Com</u>, 410 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1981), and that is exactly what the decision below does. By saying that school boards can negotiate agreements on the one hand and refuse to fund them on the other hand, the District Court's decision makes Article I, §6 an illusory right for school board employees. That is contrary to the decisions of this Court.

In <u>Hillsborough Cty. GEA v. Aviation Authority</u>, 522 So.2d 358, 363 (Fla. 1988), this Court unequivocally held that:

The Florida Constitution guarantees public employees the right of <u>effective</u> collective bargaining. <u>This is not an empty or hollow</u> <u>right subject to unilateral denial</u>. Rather it is one which may not be abridged except upon the showing of a compelling state interest.

No "compelling state interest" was found here, nor is there any infringement upon the separation of powers doctrine as was the case in <u>FPBA</u>. Hence, just as in <u>Hillsborough Cty. G.E.A.</u>, <u>Palowitch</u>, and <u>United Faculty of Florida</u>, the fundamental right of public employees to bargain collectively cannot be abridged by the employer/legislative body's unilateral decision not to fund the step increases that the employees were lawfully entitled to receive, absent compliance with the requisite conditions for such

SS#3959.1

-9-

unilateral action. The District Court's reliance on Section 447.309(2) to permit this result was in error and contrary to the decision of this Court; indeed, if construed as the Second District did here, the statute would be unconstitutional as applied.

Conclusion

This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. Because of the great public interest in this question, it is respectively submitted that this Court should exercise its jurisdiction and grant the petition for review.

> THOMAS W. YOUNG, III General Counsel Florida Education Association/United 118 N. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1700 (904) 224-7818

and

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A. 410 First Florida Bank Bldg. P. O. Drawer 190 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-1585

Alan C. Sundberg

Florida Bar No. 079381

Attorneys for Sarasota Classified/Teachers Association

<u>Certificate of Service</u>

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was sent by U.S. Mail this 19th day of March, 1993 to:

STEPHEN A. MECK Florida Public Employees Relations Commission 2586 Seagate Drive Suite 100 Turner Building Tallahassee, FL 32399-2171

PAM COOPER, ESQ. Amicus Curiae, FTP/NEA 213 S. Adams Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 A. LAMAR MATTHEWS, JR. Matthews, Hutton & Eastmoore P. O. Box 49377 Sarasota, FL 34230

Judber 0 Alan C. Sundberg

NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING MOTION AND, IF FILED, DETERMINED.

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

OF FLORIDA

SECOND DISTRICT

SARASOTA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,)

Appellant,

v.

SARASOTA CLASSIFIED/TEACHERS ASSOCIATION and THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION, CASE NO. 92-01101

Appellees.

Opinion filed February 12, 1993.

Appeal from the Public Employees Relation Commission.

A. Lamar Matthews, Jr., Jeanne S. Medawar, and Arthur S. Hardy of Matthews, Hutton & Eastmoore, P.A., Sarasota, for Appellant.

Thomas W. Young III, General Counsel, FEA/United, Tallahassee, for Appellee, Sarasota Classified/ Teachers Association; Suzanne M. Choppin, Staff Counsel, and Stephen Meck, Deputy General Counsel, Tallahassee, for Appellee, The Public Employees Relation Commission.

Pamela L. Cooper, General Counsel, Tallahassee, for Amicus Curiae, Florida Teaching Profession-National Education Association.

John D. Carlson of Gatlin, Woods, Carlson & Cowdery, Tallahassee,

RECEIVED

FEB 1 9 1950 FEA/UNITED LEGAL DEPARTMENT for Amicus Curiae, Florida Association of District School Superintendents, Inc.

SCHOONOVER, Judge.