IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 9 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

SARASOTA CLASSIFIED/TEACHERS ASSOCIATION and THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Petitioner,

vs.

-- e

,

CASE NO. 81,423

SARASOTA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

A. Lamar Matthews, Jr. FB# 051390 Jeanne S. Medawar FB# 0655856 Arthur S. Hardy FB# 0721492 MATTHEWS, HUTTON & EASTMOORE 1777 Main Street, Suite 500 Post Office Box 49377 Sarasota, Florida 34230 (813) 366-8888 Attorneys for Respondent

I.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

Respondent, the School Board of Sarasota County, Florida (School Board), accepts the statement of the case and facts presented by petitioner, Sarasota Classified/Teachers Association (SC/TA), with the exception of the last sentence. There, the SC/TA states that the Second District relied on this court's decision in <u>State of Florida v.</u> <u>Florida Police Benevolent Ass'n</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (Fla. 1992) to hold that a separation of powers argument required reversal below. As is discussed more appropriately in the argument section of this brief, the School Board does not believe this is an accurate "fact" in this case.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

There is no basis upon which this court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case. The Second District's decision below construing the scope of Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes, is fully consistent with this court's very recent rulings and <u>State of Florida v. Florida Police Benevolent Ass'n</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (Fla. 1992) ("<u>FPBA</u>"), and <u>Chiles v. United Faculty of</u> <u>Florida</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S143 (Fla. 1993) ("<u>UFF</u>"). The Second District correctly ruled that a legislative body may unilaterally alter a portion of its collective bargaining agreement as long as appropriate underfunding procedures are used. This decision, although not directly relying on <u>FPBA</u>, certainly is in harmony with it. Further, dicta from the Second District's opinion explicitly foreshadowed this court's <u>UFF</u> holding. No conflict exists between the opinion below and any pronouncement of this court.

Nor is there any other reason why the court should review this case. The holding below only indirectly affects the School Board's general budgetary powers and does not affect school boards exclusively. Moreover, the SC/TA's great importance argument is simply an artfully drafted way of claiming the Second District's opinion was wrong. This argument fails to recognize that the opinion below is consistent with both <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u>. Finally, the SC/TA should not be permitted to inject the issue of the constitutionality of Section 447.309(2) into the proceedings at this late date. This issue was not presented in any form below and should not be raised for the first time here. If this issue were truly of great importance, it certainly would have been presented below.

V. ARGUMENT.

.`

1. The Second District's opinion below is consistent with this court's opinions in <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u> and creates no "<u>McBurnette</u> conflict."

The SC/TA contends in its brief on jurisdiction that the Second District erred below by relying on this court's opinion in <u>State of</u> <u>Florida v. Florida Police Benevolent Ass'n</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (Fla. 1992) ("<u>FPBA</u>"). The SC/TA argues that the Second District's reliance on <u>FPBA</u> creates conflict based upon <u>McBurnette v. Playground Equipment</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 137 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1962), because <u>FPBA</u> is factually distinct from this case and, therefore, not controlling. The SC/TA's contention is wrong for two reasons. First, the Second District did not find <u>FPBA</u> directly controlling nor did it rely exclusively on that case to reach its holding. Second, a close reading of the Second District's opinion and this court's opinions in <u>FPBA</u> and <u>Chiles v.</u>

<u>United Faculty of Florida</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S143 (Fla. 1993) ("<u>UFF</u>"), reveals that the opinion below is in harmony with both recent decisions of this court. No conflict, "<u>McBurnette</u>" or otherwise, exists.

This court held in <u>McBurnette</u> that conflict jurisdiction arises when a district court "expressly accept[s] an earlier decision of this Court as controlling precedent in a situation materially at variance with the case relied on." McBurnette, 137 So. 2d at 565. In McBurnette the court reviewed a four paragraph opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal which cited only one case, Carter v. Hector Supply Co., 128 So. 2d 390 (Fla. 1961). Not only was Carter the sole case cited by the Third District, but the court of appeal explicitly stated its holding was grounded "on the authority of the recent opinion of the Supreme Court in Carter v. Hector Supply Co., Fla. 1961, 128 So. 2d 390." McBurnette v. Playground Equipment Corp., 130 So. 2d 117, 118 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961), guashed, 137 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1962). Because this court found both that the Third District relied exclusively on Carter and that <u>Carter</u> did not apply to all legal claims presented, the court exercised its conflict jurisdiction. McBurnette, 137 So. 2d at 562-63.

In stark contrast to the Third District's brief <u>McBurnette</u> opinion, Judge Schoonover, writing below for a unanimous panel including Judges Lehan and Frank, authored a comprehensive fifteen page opinion surveying all relevant caselaw. The narrow issue before the court was whether Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes, applied during the hiatus period between collective bargaining agreements to

permit the School Board as legislative body to "underfund" its collective bargaining agreements with the SC/TA.¹ Relying upon numerous labor law cases interpreting the responsibilities of governmental employers during the hiatus period, the Second District correctly concluded that Section 447.309(2) did apply during that time period and, consequently, that the School Board did not commit an unfair labor practice when it underfunded the bargaining agreements.

In the entire Second District opinion, the <u>FPBA</u> case was cited only twice, once to state the well-settled proposition under Florida law that while public employees have a constitutional right to bargain collectively, their rights are not coextensive with private employees' rights, and once to give background information on Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes, and the separation of powers doctrine. Op. at 13-14. Thus it is clear that the Second District did not simply rely upon <u>FPBA</u>, either explicitly or implicitly, to render its construction of Section 447.309(2).

Furthermore, the entire conflict issue raised by the SC/TA is illusory because the Second District's opinion is consistent with both <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u>. In <u>FPBA</u>, this court reversed an opinion of the First District Court of Appeal and held that the Legislature was permitted, during the appropriations process, to make a unilateral change in

¹ There was no dispute below that Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes, allowed "underfunding" by a school board during the express term of a collective bargaining agreement. Indeed, this aspect of Section 447.309(2) was clearly recognized by the Public Employees Relations Commission, which became an appellee along with the SC/TA in the Second District, in its administrative opinion below. App. 2 to Petitioner's Brief at page 7.

employees' previously bargained sick and annual leave benefits so long as it did, in fact, appropriate less than was necessary to fully fund those benefits. <u>FPBA</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S3. Because the court found that "the legislature did not simply underfund or refuse to fund certain benefits, but rather unilaterally changed them," however, the case was remanded to the trial court to determine whether the Legislature had appropriated sufficient monies to fund the leave provisions. Id. at S2-3. In remanding the case, the court stated:

> Where the legislature does not appropriate enough money to fund a negotiated benefit, <u>as it is free to do</u>, then the conditions it imposes on the use of the funds will stand even if contradictory to the negotiated agreement.

Id. at S3 citing United Faculty of Florida v. Board of Regents, 365 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (emphasis added). The court also explicitly left open the issue of whether the Legislature could subsequently unilaterally reduce an appropriation which it had previously made to fund a collective bargaining agreement. <u>FPBA</u>, at S5 n.12

The court very recently had the opportunity to revisit the issue left unresolved in <u>FPBA</u>. In <u>UFF</u>, the court held that "[o]nce the executive has negotiated and the legislature has accepted <u>and</u> funded an agreement, the state and all its organs are bound by that agreement under the principles of contract law." <u>UFF</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S144 (emphasis in original). In deciding <u>UFF</u> the court repeatedly and expressly distinguished its earlier <u>FPBA</u> ruling. The opinions by both Justices Kogan and Harding recognized that in <u>FPBA</u> no full legislative funding had occurred whereas in <u>UFF</u> the Legislature had funded a 3%

pay raise and then <u>subsequently</u> sought to take it away. <u>Id</u>. at S143-44. The factual difference between underfunding a contract in the first instance or fully funding a contract and then, in Justice Kogan's terms, reneging, is the distinction between <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u>. <u>See</u> <u>id</u>. at S144 ("Having exercised its appropriation powers, the legislature cannot now change its mind and renege on the contract so created without sufficient reason.").

Moreover, despite the SC/TA's repeated assertions to the contrary, nowhere does any opinion written by a member of the <u>UFF</u> majority state that the <u>FPBA</u> decision was based solely on separation of powers or that <u>FPBA</u> cannot control in any other factual circumstance. The clear distinction made by the authors of the <u>UFF</u> case between <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u> is the distinction between the legislative body underfunding, on the one hand, or funding and then reneging, on the other. The cases have made clear that the former is permitted while the latter is not. Issues relating to separation of powers, while discussed in <u>FPBA</u>, are in no way limited by the court's ruling in <u>UFF</u>.²

The Second District's opinion below construing Section 447.309(2) to apply during the hiatus period between bargaining agreements fits very comfortably into the contours of the law established by this court in <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u>. Like this court, the Second District recognized that, in the absence of legislative underfunding, a

 $^{^2}$ Although the SC/TA states several times in its jurisdictional brief that <u>UFF</u> recognizes a separation of powers limitation on <u>FPBA</u>, it tellingly cites to no language from the <u>UFF</u> opinion to support that bald assertion.

unilateral change in salary would be an unfair labor practice. Op. at 9-10. However, because the School Board had properly underfunded its collective bargaining agreements, the Second District ruled, in conformity with <u>FPBA</u>, that the School Board's action was permissible and did not constitute an unfair labor practice. The Second District also foreshadowed this court's subsequent <u>UFF</u> opinion by stating that had the School Board accepted the Superintendent's proposed budget which fully funded the collective bargaining agreements, it would have committed an unfair labor practice if it subsequently unilaterally discontinued step increase salary payments. Op. at 11-12. The Second District's opinion does not conflict in any way with any opinion of this court and review should be denied.

2. The Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.

In addition to seeking review based on the alleged conflict previously discussed, the SC/TA advances two additional arguments in an effort to persuade this court to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction. The SC/TA argues that the court should hear the case (1) because it involves school board members who are constitutional officers and (2) because the court should hear the case (i.e., it involves a matter of great importance). Neither argument presents a reason for the court to grant discretionary review in this case.

Although School Board members are constitutional officers and the School Board was a party to this unfair labor practice

charge,³ this is not the type of case contemplated by the constitutional grant of jurisdiction to this court to review cases expressly affecting "a class of constitutional or state officers." Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. This court has determined that to review a case expressly affecting constitutional officers the case "must <u>directly</u> and, in some way, <u>exclusively</u> affect the duties, powers [etc.] . . of a particular class of constitutional or state officers." <u>Spradley v. State</u>, 293 So. 2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1974) (emphasis in original). This case, at best, only indirectly affects the School Board's general budgetary powers and, even at that, does not exclusively affect school boards.

In any event, even if the "constitutional officer" jurisdiction were implicated, that fact, in and of itself, only makes jurisdiction in this court discretionary. Some additional reason need be shown why the court should desire to, or why it needs to, decide this case. As described above, the Second District's opinion is consistent with this court's recent <u>FPBA</u> and <u>UFF</u> rulings. The court need not revisit this subject for the third time in as many months.

The SC/TA's request for jurisdiction based upon great importance should likewise be denied. In its brief exposition on this issue, the SC/TA begins by stating that while the School Board can take certain unilateral actions to alter its contractual obligations, those changes

³ Although the Public Employees Relations Commission has continuously, erroneously denominated the party to this action as "Sarasota County School District" the School Board of Sarasota County, Florida recognizes it is the proper party to this action and has participated as such throughout the course of these proceedings.

must be made pursuant to Florida law. The School Board and, more importantly, the Second District agree. What the SC/TA fails to accept is that Section 447.309(2) does permit the School Board to take the action that it did in this case.

The true heart of the SC/TA's great importance argument is found on page 9 of its brief. There the SC/TA states, "By saying that school boards can negotiate agreements on the one hand and refuse to fund them on the other hand, the District Court's decision makes Article I, §6 an illusory right for school board employees." Thus, its argument, stated very clearly, is that a school board can <u>never</u> underfund a bargaining agreement. In other words, Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional. While the School Board can offer numerous responses to the merits of this argument, one response is of particular moment at this stage of the proceedings -- the SC/TA has never before raised this argument and should not be permitted to inject it into the proceedings at this late date.

The law is clear that issues not raised below, even issues involving the constitutionality of a statute, are not, in the absence of fundamental error, initially cognizable in an appellate court. <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970) ("Constitutional issues, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived, unless they are timely raised."); <u>see also Hillsborough County v.</u> <u>Bennett</u>, 167 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964) (issue of statute's constitutionality waived where not raised below). There is absolutely no reason to depart from this well established rule in this case. Since the beginning of this proceeding the School Board has relied on

Section 447.309(2) as the legal basis for its underfunding action. The constitutionality of this statute has never been questioned; the only issue has been whether the statute applied during the hiatus period as well as during the express duration of a collective bargaining agreement. The SC/TA should not be permitted to present this untimely argument. Certainly it should not be the basis upon which this court invokes its discretionary jurisdiction. If the SC/TA truly believes this argument is of such great importance as to merit review in this court, surely it would have presented the argument below.

VI. CONCLUSION.

Based on the foregoing authorities and argument, the SC/TA's petition for review should be denied.